FEDERAL MARITIME COMMISSION

INTERMODAL MOTOR CARRIERS
CONFERENCE, AMERICAN TRUCKING
ASS’N, INC.,
Complainant, Docket No. 20-14
V.

OCEMA, ET AL.,

Respondent.

Served: February 13, 2024

BY THE COMMISSION: Daniel B. MAFFEIL, Chairman;
Rebecca F. DYE, Louis E. SOLA, Carl W. BENTZEL,
Commissioners. Max M. VEKICH, Commissioner, dissenting.

Order Affirming Initial Decision
and Remanding for Further Proceedings

This Order addresses whether certain ocean common carrier
practices that restrict motor carriers’ choice of chassis providers for
port-to-port shipments (merchant haulage) violate 46 U.S.C. §
41102(c). The Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) ruled that
Respondents’ practice of designating an exclusive chassis provider
for merchant haulage and using merchant haulage volume to obtain
discounted carrier haulage rates where motor carriers have no choice
of chassis providers violates Section 41102(c) and ordered
Respondents to cease and desist engaging in those practices. The
ALJ also ruled that the Commission has authority to order ocean
common carriers not to withdraw from interoperable chassis pools,
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but could not determine whether that relief is appropriate here until
the record is further developed.

In this interlocutory appeal, Respondents challenge the
ALJ’s rulings on procedural and substantive grounds. Respondents
argue that the Commission lacks jurisdiction because the challenged
restrictions relate to their contracts with chassis providers and
involve overland transportation between the ports and inland
facilities, and also assert that Complainant’s Section 41102(c)
claims cannot be resolved without joining the major chassis
providers as parties. Substantively, Respondents argue that the
Commission’s long-standing test for assessing the reasonableness of
exclusive arrangements should not apply here and claim the ALJ
misapplied the law in finding Respondents’ practices unlawful
under Section 41102(c) because they are not reasonably related, fit
and appropriate to their goal of ensuring an adequate supply of
chassis for merchant haulage. Complainant opposes Respondents’
appeal and asks the Commission to affirm the ALJ’s Initial Decision
Partially Granting Summary Decision (I.D.) in its entirety.

The ALJ’s findings on these claims and the cease-and-desist
order are supported by the record and by sound reasoning. The
Commission plainly has jurisdiction over allegations that ocean
common carriers’ practices and rules governing chassis
provisioning violate Section 41102(c) and those allegations can be
resolved without the chassis providers participating as parties in this
case. Substantively, the Commission finds that Respondents’ rules
and practices designating an exclusive chassis provider for merchant
haulage and using merchant haulage volume to lower their carrier
haulage rates when motor carriers have no choice of providers are
unreasonable under Section 41102(c¢).

The Commission denies Respondents’ exceptions and
affirms the ALJ’s Initial Decision in its entirety. Respondents are
ordered to cease and desist from the restrictive practices found to be
unlawful under Section 41102(c) in the four regions covered by this
ALJ’s Initial Decision: Los Angeles/Long Beach, Chicago,
Savannah, and Memphis. This case is remanded to the ALJ to
resolve the remaining claims.
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I. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

1. Parties and Intermodal Equipment Providers

Complainant Intermodal Motor Carriers Conference
(Intermodal) is a conference of the American Trucking Association,
Inc. that represents the interests of motor carriers hired to transport
containerized cargo between U.S. ports and inland facilities. Joint
Stipulation of Facts (JSF) 99 1-2.! Securing the chassis (wheeled
metal frames) required to transport containers over the road between
ports and inland facilities is an essential part of the motor carriers’
business. 1.D., 2. Chassis are generally owned by intermodal
equipment providers who rent them at daily rates. /d.

Respondents Ocean Carrier Equipment Management
Association Inc. (OCEMA) and Consolidated Chassis Management
LLC (CCM) are associations of ocean common carriers that operate
under the authority of agreements filed with the Commission. JSF
94 3-10, 14-19. OCEMA was established in 1990 to allow its ocean
common carrier members to confer and collaborate on certain issues
of mutual interest and concern. Id. § 3; FMC Agreement No.
011284. OCEMA’s website describes it as “an association of major
U.S. and foreign flag international ocean carriers” that “operate
worldwide and serve all major U.S. ports and inland locations,
moving cargoes primarily in containers.” See JSF 9 10;
http://www.ocema.org/about.html. OCEMA members mostly
transport containerized cargo, and their services include arranging
intermodal transportation between ports and inland locations by
motor carrier or railroad. /d.

CCM was established in 2005 “to provide for a cooperative
working arrangement” allowing its ocean common carriers
members to form and operate “local, metropolitan, and/or regional
chassis pools.” FMC Agreement No. 011962 (CCM Agreement),?

'Appendix A lists the docketed filings and submissions referenced in this
Order. References to documents the parties submitted or proposed for
confidential treatment under 46 C.F.R. § 502.5 include the descriptor
“Confid.”

’The Agreement Library is available at https://www2.fmc.gov
/FMC.Agreements.Web/Public.
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Art. 2; JSF 99 14, 16. The CCM Agreement authorizes the parties
“to meet, discuss, exchange information and data, negotiate, and
agree upon all matters related to the establishment, operation and
use of Chassis Pools.” CCM Agreement, Art. 5.2. OCEMA and its
members are also parties to the CCM Agreement. Id., Art. 3. CCM
manages some regional chassis pools and has issued a manual

containing rules and guidance on chassis usage and charges. 1.D.,
16.

Individual ocean common carriers who are OCEMA and
CCM members are named as Respondents, and that list includes:
CMA CGM S.A.; COSCO Shipping Lines Co. Ltd. (COSCO);
Evergreen Line Joint Service Agreement (Evergreen) (FMC No.
011982); Hapag-Lloyd AG; HMM Co. Ltd.; Maersk A/S; MSC
Mediterranean Shipping Company S.A. (MSC); Ocean Network
Express PTE Ltd. (ONE); and Zim Integrated Shipping Services.
Two carriers who do not belong to both organizations are also
named as Respondents: (1) Wan Hai Lines Ltd. (Wan Hai) belongs
to OCEMA but not CCM (JSF q 149), and (2) Yang Ming Marine
Transport Corp. (Yang Ming) belongs to CCM but is no longer a
member of OCEMA (JSF 99 163-64).

The Respondent ocean carriers contract with three major
chassis providers who currently dominate the U.S. chassis market:
Direct Chassislink, Inc. (DCLI), Flexi-Van Leasing, LLC (Flexi-
Van) and Interpool, Inc. d/b/a TRAC Intermodal (TRAC),
collectively referred to as the IEPs.> JSF 99 188-190, 207.
Respondents typically rent the chassis from the IEPs, and shippers
or motor carriers are then billed for chassis usage in accordance with
that ocean common carriers’ contract with the IEPs and/or CCM
rules, or some other prearranged system. See 1.D., 2. North
American Chassis Pool Cooperative, LLC (NACPC) also operates
as an intermodal chassis provider, and it was established by a group
of motor carriers. JSF 99 191, 207.

3In this Order, IEP refers to the three major chassis providers: DCLI, Flexi-
Van, and TRAC. “Chassis provider” is used as a generic term to include
the three IEPs and any others engaged in the business of supplying chassis
for containerized cargo transported in U.S. foreign commerce.



Intermodal Motor Carriers. v. OCEMA 5

2. Haulage Types and Chassis Provision Models

Customers* of ocean common carriers can opt for door-to-
port transportation (carrier haulage) or port-to-port transportation
(merchant haulage). 1.D., 15 (Finding Nos. 9-12). If the customer
opts for carrier haulage, the ocean common carrier is responsible for
arranging and paying the cost of transporting the cargo between an
inland facility and the port. /d. If the customer opts for merchant
haulage, the customer takes responsibility for arranging and paying
the cost of transporting the cargo between an inland facility and the
port. Id. Chassis are generally provided under one of four different
models depending on who owns the chassis equipment and whether
the chassis are interchangeable. Id. at 15-18 (Finding Nos. 14-34).

Chassis Provision Models® (Table 1)

1. Single Chassis Provider 2. Gray Pool
*Chassis owned by chassis | *Chassis contributed by
provider several providers
*Daily usage (rental) *Qperated under a pool
subject to individually manager
negotiated agreements *Chassis providers receive a
*Maintenance & repairs share of revenue based on
responsibility of chassis number of chassis they
provider contribute
*Chassis picked up & *Chassis are
dropped off at provider’s interchangeable regardless
location of which provider
*Daily usage charges contributed them.
established by contract or at
posted daily rates

4“Customer” in this Order generally refers to the party that contracts for
ocean transportation service for containerized cargo which is consistent
with the parties’ use of the term. Depending on the situation, the customer
might be the beneficial cargo owner (BCO), a non-vessel operating
common carrier (NVOCC), or another entity that contracts with the ocean
common carrier for ocean transportation service.

SSee JSF 99 192-94; Complainant’s Reply Stmt. Facts 99 42-43; Rodrigue
Report 29 (Figure 8) (citing U.S. Government Accountability Office
(2021), Commercial Shipping: Information on How Intermodal Chassis
Are Made Available and the Federal Government's Oversight Role, 3, 10-
13).
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*Maintenance & repairs are
the responsibility of the pool
manager.

3. Pool of Pools 4. Motor Carrier

Los Angeles/Long Beach Controlled

*Functions by cooperation | (Trucker-Owned Wheels)

among chassis providers *Chassis owned or leased
*Providers are DCLI, long term by motor carriers
TRAC, and Flexi-Van (the | *Chassis provided as part of
IEPs) the transportation service
*Pools are separately *Maintenance and repairs
managed are the responsibility of the
*Flexible pickup/drop off motor carrier owners.
locations

*Pool chassis are

interchangeable

*Maintenance and repairs
are responsibility of each
chassis provider

*Billing rights are assigned
to the provider who has a
contractual relationship
with the ocean common
carrier whose container is
being moved.

Complainant is challenging practices Respondents employ
in connection with Models 1, 2 and 3 in Table 1 when motor carriers
obtain chassis for merchant haulage. Depending on how they are
structured, each model has inherent features that affect choice and
flexibility. Single-provider or proprietary pools, by their nature, do
not offer users a choice of equipment providers. I.D., 15 (Finding
No. 14); JSF q 192. Fully interoperable or gray pools commingle
multiple chassis providers’ equipment and operate under rules that
assign particular providers the right to bill for chassis usage
regardless of which provider actually owns the equipment that
customer used. Complainant’s Reply Stmt. Facts 9§ 36.

3. CCM Rules and Chassis Pool Operations

CCM has established rules for chassis pool operations,
chassis allocation, and billing for chassis usage which are set forth
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in a document entitled Pools Operations Manual (Version 4.0,
effective October 2019) (hereinafter CCMP Operations Manual).
See 1.D., 16 (Finding Nos. 19-22). CCM allocation rules allow an
IEP to charge the ocean carrier’s customer for chassis usage
regardless of which IEP actually owns the equipment used. /d. CCM
Rule 5.5 assigns chassis charges to the ocean carrier’s designated or
preferred provider. It provides that: “Usage Days will be assigned
by default to the User associated with the Container Line Operator
for the container loaded on a Chassis, (i.e., to either the User itself
or to the User for whom the Container Line Operator is a customer).”
Id. (Finding No. 21).°® The CCMP Operations Manual defines
“User” as “an entity that has entered into a written Master Chassis
Use Agreement with a pool” and “Container Line Operator” is
defined as “the ocean carrier that is operating the container at the
time of usage.” Id.

CCM Rule 5.7 provides that motor carriers may select the
chassis provider but only if ocean common carriers and [EPs grant
an exception. /d. (Finding No. 22) (emphasis added). It also
describes how chassis usage charges are assigned if the “Container
Line Operator” (ocean common carrier) grants the motor carrier’s
request for an exception. Rule 5.7 provides that:

Notwithstanding Section 5.5, under the Choice
Program, Usage Days may be directed to another
User when the Container Line Operator and the User
for whom the Container Line Operator is a Customer
authorizes a deviation from the default assignment.
To utilize this program, the Container Line Operator
must notify CCM that it allows exceptions: at the
shipment level (based on booking or bill of lading
reference); upon request and approval; based on the
motor carrier (for merchant haulage moves); or for
all merchant haulage moves (provided the Container

The rule text quoted above is not entitled to confidential treatment, but
we note that the ALJ granted confidential treatment to Exhibits C and G
(CX2423 and CX 2428-29) of Version 4.0 of CCM Rules 5.5 and 5.7 and
Exhibit C of Version 2.7 of CCM Rules 5.5 and 5.7 (CX 2218)). I.D., 10.
The ALJ also noted that CCMP Version 4.6 “is not part of the record and
was not reviewed” or considered aside from addressing the parties’
confidentiality requests. .D., 10 n.4.
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Line Operator provides CCM with access to
shipment data sufficient to make such assignments).

1d.

At one time, CCM chassis pool subsidiaries serviced ports
and inland terminal facilities across much of the United States. See
JSF 99 200-204. CCM-operated pools formerly included:

(1)

)

)

(4)

)

(6)

Chicago & Ohio Valley Consolidated Chassis Pool
LLC (Chicago Pool) (serving Chicago, Illinois;
multiple cities in Ohio; Indianapolis, Indiana; and
Louisville, Kentucky);

Denver Consolidated Chassis Pool LLC (serving
Denver and Salt Lake City);

Gulf Consolidated Chassis Pool LLC (Gulf Pool)
(serving Houston, Dallas and other Texas cities and
New Orleans, Louisiana);

Mid-South Consolidated Chassis Pool LLC (serving
Memphis and Nashville, Tennessee);

Mid-West Consolidated Chassis Pool LLC (serving
St. Louis, Missouri; Kansas City, Kansas; and
Omaha, Nebraska); and

South Atlantic Chassis Pool LLC (serving Atlanta
and Savannah, Georgia; Charleston, South Carolina;

Charlotte, North Carolina; Jacksonville and Tampa,
Florida).

1d.; see also http://www.ocema.org/ccm.html. The CCM-operated
Gulf Pool and Chicago Pool ceased operating on August 19, 2020.

Evergreen is a CCM member but operates under a different
chassis-provisioning model. It obtains chassis from IEPs for both
carrier and merchant haulage at a single, fixed daily contract rate.
I.D., 14 (Finding No. 8). Evergreen’s merchant haulage customers
pay a fixed chassis usage charge that covers the day of delivery plus
four business days, after which the per diem charge is $20.00. /d.
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4. Chassis Pools in Test Case Locations

At the ALJ’s suggestion, the parties limited the time frame
and geographic scope of this case to focus initially on the ports at
Los Angeles/Long Beach and Savannah and intermodal facilities in
Memphis and Chicago as test case regions. L.D. at 3, 17-18, 43.7 The
Memphis and Savannah facilities operate under CCM Rules. /d. at
17-18 (Finding No. 32-33). The Memphis region is serviced by the
Mid-South Pool which operates as an interoperable gray pool and
by proprietary pools operated by two of the major IEPs, DCLI and
TRAC. JSF 94 200; Complainant’s Reply Stmt. Facts 99 645-46. The
Savannah region is serviced by the South Atlantic Chassis Pool
(SACP) Agreement (FMC Agreement No. 011980) which operates
an interoperable gray pool. JSF 9200, 205-206. It services the ports
and intermodal terminals at Atlanta, Charleston, Savannah, and
Jacksonville. 7d. 4 200. Ocean carriers using on-dock chassis at the
Ports of Savannah and Jacksonville must use SACP-supplied
chassis. /d. 9 200.

The Chicago region and Los Angeles and Long Beach ports
are not currently serviced by CCM pools and do not operate under
its rules. JSF 99 203-04; see 1.D., 17-18 (Finding Nos. 24, 31).
Following the closure of the Chicago Pool in August 2020, the
Chicago region is serviced by individual proprietary pools. I.D., 17
(Finding No. 31); JSF 9 204. The Los Angeles and Long Beach ports
are serviced by the Pool of Pools which is operated collectively by
the IEPs (DCLI, TRAC Intermodal, and Flexi-Van). JSF 99195-97.
The Pool of Pools operates as a gray pool so a motor carrier may use
any chassis in the pool. Id. The IEP who has a contractual

"The ALJ “encouraged [the parties] to identify ways to limit the time and
expense associated” with litigating these complex claims and “instructed
[them] to discuss” possible options, such as stipulating to facts or focusing
on particular geographic areas or time periods and file a joint report on the
options discussed. Order Denying Respondents’ Mot. for Leave to File
Interlocutory Appeal, 9 (Jan. 29, 2021). The parties conferred and
“propose[d] limiting certain categories of initial Party document discovery
to the following geographic areas: the Ports of Long Beach and Los
Angeles, the Port of Savannah, intermodal terminals in the Chicago area,
and intermodal terminals in the Memphis area.” Joint Status Report and
Proposed Discovery Schedule, 1 (Mar. 1, 2021).
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relationship with the ocean carrier whose container is being moved
bills for chassis usage. /d. Although the IEPs are competitors, the
Department of Justice (DOJ) issued a business review letter stating
1t will not challenge the Pool of Pools Chassis Use Agreement under
federal antitrust laws.® 1.D., 17 (Finding No. 28).

The chart below summarizes the chassis provisioning
models relevant to Complainant’s claims:

Chassis-Provisioning Models in the Test Case Regions (Table 2)

Test Case Regional Pools Notable Features
Region
Savannah  *SACP *CCM Rules govern
Interoperable gray pool
*Serves ports and intermodal
terminals at Atlanta, Charleston,
Savannah, and Jacksonville.
Memphis  *Mid-South *CCM Rules govern
Pool *Interoperable gray pool (Mid-
*Single South Pool)
Provider Pools  *Proprietary pools (DCLI and
(operated by TRAC)

DCLI and

TRAC)
Chicago *Proprietary

Pools
LA/Long *Pool of Pools  *Collectively operated by
Beach DCLI, TRAC and Flexi-Van

$Unlike entities regulated by the Commission, the IEPs do not qualify for
the antitrust exemption conferred on FMC agreement filers by 46 U.S.C.
§ 40307. See JSF q 196. As FMC-agreement filers. Respondents qualify
for the exemption as long as their agreement is in effect and they are
operating within its authority. See In re Vehicle Carrier Services Antitrust
Litigation, 846 F.3d 71, 80-81 (3d Cir. 2017) Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC v.
Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha, Civ. No. 18-13764, 2018 WL 6522487,
at *4-5 (D.N.J. Dec. 12, 2018).
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B. Procedural History

1. Proceedings Before the ALJ

Complainant brought this action to obtain a cease-and-desist
order under 46 U.S.C. § 41102(c) directing Respondents OCEMA,
CCM, and the individual ocean common carriers to refrain from
establishing or following unfair or unreasonable chassis-
provisioning practices. Complainant seeks an order directing
Respondents to: (1) remove and stop enforcing parts of the CCMP
Operations Manual; (2) refrain from adopting or enforcing any
regulation restricting motor carriers’ choice of chassis provider
(including default designations) when the motor carrier is charged
for usage or at a per diem rate; and (3) refrain from using certain
single-provider chassis pools or intermodal terminals that
effectively preclude chassis choice by motor carriers. Compl. 9 40-
41.°

The ALJ denied Respondents’ motion to dismiss the
complaint for lack of jurisdiction, failure to join the IEPs as
indispensable parties, and on other grounds. The parties then
engaged in fact and expert discovery. At the ALJ’s suggestion, the
parties focused discovery and briefing on four geographic regions to
be considered first as a test case, with the remaining claims to be
decided at a later stage of the proceedings. After discovery ended,
the parties jointly filed a statement of undisputed facts. All parties
filed cross-motions for summary decision supplemented by their
respective proposed findings of undisputed facts. The Respondents
joined in a consolidated motion for summary decision. Because its
practices differ somewhat from the other Respondents, Evergreen
also moved separately for summary decision in its favor.

In February 2023, the ALJ issued an Initial Decision
granting in part Complainant’s motion and denying in their entirety
the Respondents’ summary decision motions. The ALJ rejected
Respondents’ renewed motions to dismiss on the grounds that the

We note that the complaint does not allege violations of 46 U.S.C. §
41105(2), which prohibits a “group of two or more common carriers” from
“engag[ing] in conduct that unreasonably restricts the use of intermodal
services or technological innovations.” Whether this case, or a future case,
might address the potential application of this statutory provision is not
presently before the Commission.
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Commission lacks jurisdiction'® because the claims involve chassis-
provisioning and inland chassis pool operations, and also rejected
Respondents’ renewed motion to dismiss because the IEPs are not
joined as parties. The ALJ also ruled on cross-motions to strike
filings and on multiple requests to keep certain information
confidential. /d. at 61.'' The ALJ granted in part and denied in part
the motions for confidential treatment of various filings and
materials. /d.at 9-11.'2

'The ALJ addressed the jurisdictional question in three separate orders
entered at different stages of the case. The ALJ rejected Respondents’
arguments that the Commission lacks jurisdiction in denying: (1)
Respondents’ motion to dismiss the complaint (ALJ Order dated Nov. 18,
2020); (2) Respondents’ request for leave to file an interlocutory appeal
challenging the ALJ’s denial of their motion to dismiss (ALJ Order dated
Jan. 29, 2021); and (3) Respondents’ cross-motion for summary decision
(I.D., 20-21).

"In granting leave for this interlocutory appeal, the ALJ noted that an
appeal filed by any party would place “the entire proceeding before” the
Commission. I.D., 59. The parties did not file exceptions challenging the
ALJ’s rulings on these ancillary motions. This Order only addresses the
issues raised by Respondents’ Consolidated Exceptions and Evergreen’s
Exceptions as grounds for reversing the ALJ’s rulings in the Initial
Decision which focus solely on the rulings denying Respondents’ motions
for summary decision. See generally 46 C.F.R. § 502.227(a)(1)
(exceptions “shall indicate with particularity alleged errors”).
PInformation only qualifies for confidential treatment upon a showing of
good cause by demonstrating that it is “a trade secret or other confidential
research, development, or commercial information.” 46 C.F.R. § 502.5(b).
Treating information as confidential does not affect the Commission’s or
the ALJ’s ability to rely on that information to decide the claims. 46
C.F.R. § 502.5(c).

The ALJ granted confidentiality “as requested with the exception of the
non-confidential CCMP Operations Manual portions at CX2170-2217,
CX2219-20, CX2379-2422 and CX2424-27, the selected statements used
in this decision, and the corrected public filings.” I.D., 61. The ALJ denied
the parties’ requests in part as overbroad because they sought confidential
treatment for entire documents, such as expert reports, declarations, or
depositions, not just the portions that contained commercial information
or trade secrets that qualify for protection under Rule 502.5(b). I.D., 10-
11. The parties have not challenged that ruling on appeal, and even if they
had, the ALJ correctly ruled that confidential treatment is limited to
qualifying information and does not extend to the entire document.
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On the merits of Complainant’s Section 41102(c) claim, the
ALJ determined that the Respondents’ practices of designating an
exclusive chassis provider for merchant haulage and contractually
linking merchant haulage volume and carrier haulage rates are
unreasonable, and directed Respondents to cease engaging in those
practices in the four test case regions. /d. at 46-47. The ALJ also
determined that the Commission has “authority to prevent regulated
entities from withdrawing from interoperable pools,” but found that
disputed issues of material fact precluded ruling on whether the
Commission should order Respondents to cease and desist from any
further withdrawals from interoperable pools. /d. at 5. The ALJ
ordered:

Within thirty days of the date this decision becomes
final, Respondents shall cease and desist from
violating the Shipping Act in Chicago, Los Angeles/
Long Beach, Memphis, and Savannah by ceasing
and desisting adopting, maintaining, and/or
enforcing any regulations or practices that limit the
ability of a motor carrier to select the chassis
provider of its choice for merchant haulage.

Id. at 59, 61 (emphasis added).'® The ALJ also determined that rules
specifying a default (or preferred) chassis provider may promote
efficiency and, at this stage of the case, have not been shown to be
unreasonable so long as the motor carrier can select a different
chassis provider. Id. at 4. The ALJ found that to the extent
Evergreen’s chassis provisioning practices (which differ somewhat
from the other ocean carriers’) deny motor carriers a choice on
merchant haulage, they are likewise unreasonable under Section
41102(c). The ALJ granted the parties leave to file an interlocutory
appeal challenging the summary decision rulings. /d. at 5, 61.

Consistent with ALJ’s ruling and Rule 502.5, information that does not
qualify as confidential is not treated as such, and is not redacted from the
public version of the Commission’s Order. See 46 C.F.R. § 502.5(b).
BThe ALJ’s cease-and-desist order was automatically suspended when
Respondents filed exceptions to the Initial Decision. See 46 C.F.R. §
502.527(a)(5) (“Upon the filing of exceptions to, or review of, an initial
decision, such decision shall become inoperative until the Commission
determines the matter.”)
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2. Exceptions Before the Commission

Respondents timely filed consolidated exceptions
challenging the ALJ’s rulings on jurisdiction, non-joinder of the
IEPs, and parts of the Section 41102(c) claim. Respondents argue
that the Commission must dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction
and failure to join the IEPs as indispensable parties. If the case is not
dismissed, Respondents ask the Commission to reverse the ALJ’s
rulings finding the exclusive designation practices and using
merchant haulage volume to offset carrier haulage costs
unreasonable under Section 41102(c). Exceptions, 27-34.
Respondents argue that in finding their practices unreasonable, the
ALJ improperly equated those practices to exclusive arrangements
imposed by ports or marine terminal operators (MTOs), misapplied
the law in requiring Respondents to provide a justification for those
practices, and impermissibly decided disputed issues of material
fact. See id. Respondents also argue that there is no legal basis for
the cease-and-desist order and that the ALJ failed to consider how
that order will interfere with supply chain efficiency and lead to
increased transportation costs. Evergreen joined in the consolidated
exceptions, and also filed separately to address aspects of its chassis-
provisioning practices that differ from the other ocean carriers’ and
to specifically dispute the ALJ’s findings that those practices are
unreasonable and argue that it is entitled to summary decision as a
matter of law.

Complainant responded to Evergreen’s and Respondents’
consolidated exceptions and urges the Commission to affirm the
ALJ’s Initial Decision in its entirety. Complainant contends that the
ALJ correctly applied Commission case law on exclusive
arrangements and found that the challenged practices are not a
necessary or fit means of ensuring an adequate supply of chassis --
the purpose that Respondents contend justifies their existence.
Complainant’s Reply to Exceptions, 34-46. Complainant argues
that the record shows that these practices unreasonably deprive
motor carriers of choice, impede competition, increase merchant
haulage rates, and unfairly require motor carriers to subsidize lower
carriage haulage rates for ocean carriers.

The Commission granted the IEPs (DCLI, Flexi-Van, and
TRAC) leave to file an amicus brief, in which they contend that the
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ALJ erred in finding certain practices unreasonable and assert that
the ALJ failed to consider the implications of ordering the ocean
carriers to cease engaging in those practices.'* The Commission also
granted the American Cotton Shippers Association leave to file an
amicus brief, in which it contends that the ALJ properly found
Respondents’ withdrawal from interoperable pools unreasonable
and in violation of Section 41102(c), and urges the Commission to
uphold the ALJ’s findings.

II. DISCUSSION

A. Standard of Review and Burden of Proof

The Commission reviews exceptions to the ALJ’s Initial
Decision on motions for summary decision de novo and can exercise
“all the powers” it would have had in ruling on the motion initially,
and may enter its own findings. 46 C.F.R. § 502.227(a)(6). Under
the Administrative Procedure Act, the complainant has the burden
of proving its allegations by a preponderance of the evidence,
meaning that it must persuade the Commission that the allegations
are more probable than not. 5 U.S.C. § 556(d); 46 C.F.R. § 502.203;
Maher Terminals, LLC v. Port Auth. Of N.Y. & N.J., FMC Docket
No. 08-03, 2014 WL 9966245, at *14 (FMC Dec. 17, 2014). The
burden of proof never shifts to the respondents, and if the evidence
is evenly balanced, complainants do not prevail. Waterman
Steamship Corp. v. General Foundries, Inc., Docket No. 93-15,
1994 WL 279898, at *9 (FMC June 13, 1994) (complainants “must
carry the burden of proving every element of the” claim that
respondent engaged in conduct prohibited by the Shipping Act).

The Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure do not
define a standard for deciding motions for summary decision. In the
absence of a Commission rule, the Commission applies the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure to the extent they are consistent with sound
administrative practice. 46 C.F.R. § 502.12. The Commission
applies the federal summary judgment standard (Fed. R. Civ. P. 56)
in deciding parties’ motions for summary decision. Federal Rule
56(a) provides that a party is entitled to summary judgment if “there

“The IEPs did not petition to intervene in this case under 46 C.F.R. §
502.68(c)(1) (allowing non-parties to intervene as of right if “disposition
of the proceeding may as a practical matter impair or impede” their ability
to protect their interests).
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is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and [the moving party]
is entitled to judgment as matter of law.” There is a genuine factual
dispute “if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a
verdict for the nonmoving party.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.,
477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). Facts are viewed in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving party. Maxwell v. FCA US, LLC, No.
22-1356, 2023 WL 246836, at *2 (FMC Jan. 18, 2023).

Once the movant demonstrates an absence of disputed
material facts, the non-movant must present evidence to create a
genuine dispute of fact with respect to each “essential element” of
his case or defense. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323
(1986). This requires more than “simply show[ing] that there is
some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts.” Matsushita Elec.
Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986). It is not
the Commission’s role to make credibility determinations or weigh
the evidence, its role is limited to determining whether there is a
genuine issue of material fact. See Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing
Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 150 (2000).

B. Commission’s Supplemental Findings of Fact

The Commission enters the following supplemental findings
based on the evidence of record: '3

Chassis Provider Rates and Choice

35. Ocean carriers can negotiate with IEPs for lower carrier
haulage rates in exchange for higher merchant haulage chassis
volume and restrictions on choosing a chassis provider. Langenfeld
Report 9 19-20; see also Confid. Compl. Reply Stmt. Facts 4 497
(listing contracts linking carrier haulage rates to merchant haulage
volume).

36. Allowing motor carriers to choose a chassis provider
affords them the potential to negotiate and contract for chassis usage
rates. See Rodrigue Report 9 99.

15Sequential numbering for the Commission’s supplemental findings
begins where the ALJ’s numbered findings left off.
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Relevant Product and Geographic Markets

37. The relevant product market for the chassis
provisioning services provided by the IEPs is daily chassis usage.
Langenfeld Report 99 40-43.

38. The relevant geographic market for the chassis
provisioning services provided by the IEPs is the region surrounding
a particular port or inland facility where the chassis is to be used on
a short-term basis. /d. 9 12; Rodrigue Report 9 164.

39. The relevant geographic market for the test case regions
are the areas surrounding the ports at Savannah, Georgia, Los
Angeles/Long Beach California and the inland terminal facilities at
Memphis and Chicago. Langenfeld Report 9 67.

C. Jurisdiction over Complainant’s Claims

The ALJ ruled that the Commission has jurisdiction because
Respondents are ocean common carriers and associations operating
under the authority of FMC-filed agreements that are clearly subject
to the Commission’s regulatory authority, and are allegedly engaged
in practices that violate Section 41102(c). I.D., 22. Respondents do
not deny their status as regulated entities, but challenge the ALJ’s
rulings rejecting their arguments that their contractual arrangements
with IEPs and the nature of merchant haulage place Complainant’s
claims outside the Commission’s jurisdiction. Exceptions, 27-35.
They argue that the chassis-provision restrictions are insulated from
the Commission’s review because the ocean carriers are
contractually bound to honor those restrictions under their contracts
with the IEPs. Id. at 31-34, 42. They also protest jurisdiction as an
overextension of the Commission’s authority because merchant
haulage involves transportation between the ports and inland
facilities. And finally, they argue that it was reversible error for the
ALIJ to rely on Norfolk S. Railway Co. v. Kirby, 543 U.S. 14 (2004),
for the general principle that maritime law does not cease to apply
as soon as cargo moves away from a coastal port.
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1. Jurisdictional Standards

Complainants have the initial burden of showing that the
Commission has jurisdiction over their claims. See River Parishes
Co., Inc. v. Ormet Primary Aluminum Corp., Docket No. 96-06,
1999 WL 125991, at *17 (FMC Feb. 3, 1999). Where, as here,
jurisdiction is challenged in a motion for summary decision, the
complainant cannot rely on allegations alone but must point to
specific facts and evidence supporting the allegations. See Lujan v.
Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992) (discussing
burden and evidentiary requirements when constitutional standing
is challenged on summary judgment); Indiana Coalition for Public
Education—Monroe County, v. McCormick, 338 F. Supp. 3d 926
(S.D. Ind. 2018) (applying Fed. R. Civ. P. 56).

The Commission plainly has jurisdiction over ocean
common carriers'® who are allegedly violating the Shipping Act
while acting in their regulated capacity. See Cargo One, Inc. v.
COSCO Container Lines Co., Docket No. 99-24, 2000 WL
1648961, at *15 (FMC Oct. 31, 2000) (alleged Shipping Act
violations involving “just and reasonable regulations and practices,
are inherently related to Shipping Act prohibitions and are therefore
appropriately  brought before the Commission.”). The
Commission’s “jurisdiction extends to all alleged violations of the
Act.” Chief Cargo Services. v. Fed. Mar. Comm ’n, 586 Fed. Appx.
730, 731 (2d Cir. 2014); Cf. Auction Block Co. v. Fed. Mar.
Comm’n, 606 Fed. Appx. 347, 348 (9th Cir. 2015) (distinguishing
conduct within and outside scope of MTO’s regulated activities).

The individual ocean common carriers’ status as regulated
entities are not in dispute.!” OCEMA and CCM did not stipulate to
their status as regulated entities, but undisputed facts demonstrate
that is clearly the case. They operate solely under the authority of

1The Shipping Act’s definition of “ocean common carrier” relies on the
description of a common carrier. A common carrier is defined as a person
that holds itself out to the general public as providing water-borne
transportation for passengers or cargo between the United States and a
foreign country for compensation that assumes responsibility for the
transportation and uses for all or part of that transportation a vessel
operating on the high seas between a port in the U.S. and a port in a foreign
country. 46 U.S.C. § 40102(7)(A) and (18).

17See JSF 9 25, 42, 58, 72, 87, 102, 117, 132, 148, 162, 176.
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their FMC-filed agreements, represent the interests of their ocean
common carrier members and act on their behalf. The OCEMA
Agreement expressly authorizes it to engage in discussions and
activities related to “equipment pools or pool-owning companies”
and act on behalf of its members who are described as “major U.S.
and foreign flag international ocean common carriers.” JSF 9 3, 7,
10. The CCM Agreement specifically provides that it “is authorized
by and is subject to the Shipping Act of 1984, as amended, and
regulations issued pursuant thereto.” CCM Agreement, Art. 9; JSF
99 16-17. The CCM Agreement also specifically authorizes
activities related to the chassis pool rules and operations that the
Complainant challenges as unreasonable under Section 41102(c),
such as entering into exclusive contracts and agreements and
allowing a governing board to establish chassis pool operating rules.
CCM Agreement, Arts. 5.9, 6.1. The Commission exercises
continuing oversight over activities conducted under FMC-filed
agreements by, for example, reviewing meeting minutes to ensure
that the parties are operating within the bounds of the agreement.
JSF 99 13, 21; see generally Anchor Shipping Co. v. Alianga
Navegacado E Logistica Ltda., Docket No. 02-04, 2006 WL 200788,
at *12 (FMC May 10, 2006) (noting Commission’s ongoing
oversight responsibilities over filed agreements).

OCEMA and CCM could not engage in these antitrust-
exempt activities outside the bounds of their FMC-filed agreement.
In antitrust terms, the ocean common carriers are in a horizontal
relationship—they compete against one another in the market for
container transportation services in U.S. foreign commerce.'®
Federal antitrust laws prohibit collaboration and information sharing
among competitors and OCEMA; CCM and their members are only
exempt from those restrictions because they are operating under an
FMC-filed agreement currently in effect. See 46 U.S.C. § 40307(a).
Respondents cannot use the Shipping Act’s antitrust exemption to
carry out activities that would otherwise be scrutinized by the
Department of Justice (DOJ) or Federal Trade Commission (FTC)
as possible antitrust violations, but then seek to exempt those same
activities from the Commission’s scrutiny. Their argument, if
accepted, would effectively give Respondents free rein to adopt

8See 1.D., 32 (citing Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Tech. Services, 504
U.S. 451,471 n.18 (1992); Sprint Nextel Corp. v. AT&T Inc., 821 F. Supp.
2d 308, 317-18 (D.D.C. 2011)).
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practices that restrain competition or impose unjust and
unreasonable conditions on other transportation service providers or
shippers. OCEMA’s and CCM’s role in framing and enforcing
chassis-provisioning practices leaves no doubt that they were acting
on behalf of their ocean common carrier members in promoting the
challenged practices, and they are bound by the same Shipping Act
prohibitions as their members.

The Shipping Act gives any person the right to file Shipping
Act claims with the Commission and imposes a corollary duty on
the Commission to adjudicate those claims. Section 40301(a) gives
person(s) the right to file with the Commission “a sworn complaint
alleging a violation” of any Shipping Act provision (with one
exception not relevant here). 46 U.S.C. § 41301. Section 41301(c)
provides that: “If the complaint is not satisfied, the Commission
shall investigate the complaint in an appropriate manner and make
an appropriate order.” These provisions have been read in tandem
as giving complainants a right to file and have their complaints of
Shipping Act violations adjudicated by the Commission if they are
not otherwise “satisfied.” S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Fed. Mar.
Comm’n, 243 F.3d 165, 176 (4th Cir. 2001) (“[if] a private party
file[s] a complaint ... [tlhe FMC ha[s] no choice but to adjudicate
this dispute™), aff’d sub nom. Fed. Mar. Comm’n v. S.C. State Ports
Auth., 535 U.S. 743 (2002) (holding that state sovereign immunity
barred Commission from adjudicating private party complaint
alleging state-run port violated the Shipping Act); see also Anchor
Shipping, 2006 WL 200788, at *12 (Chairman Blust and
Commissioner Dye, concurring) (noting that the Shipping Act
“makes clear that the Commission does not have discretion whether
to hear filed complaints”). Adjudicating sworn complainants is also
part of the Commission’s mission of promoting an ocean
transportation system that is “efficient, competitive, and
economical.” 46 U.S.C. § 40101(2).

Section 41301(a) is plainly worded and does not carve out
exceptions. The Supreme Court has cautioned the Commission
against circumscribing its jurisdiction too narrowly when the
Shipping Act confers authority in plain language or uses expansive
terms. See Volkswagenwerk Aktiengesellschaft v. Fed. Mar.
Comm’n, 390 U.S. 261, 273-75 (1968) (reversing Commission’s
“extremely narrow” interpretation of “expansive [statutory]
language”). The Commission has heeded that caution in other cases
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and found that broadly drafted Shipping Act provisions “should not
be narrowly construed” to limit the Commission’s jurisdiction. /nt’l
Ass 'n of NVOCCs v. Atlantic Container Line, Docket No. 81-5, 1990
WL 427461, at *14 (FMC Feb. 5, 1990). Cf. Landstar Express
America Inc. v. Fed. Mar. Comm’n, 569 F.3d 493, 496 (D. C. Cir.
2009) (“Where the Shipping Act includes a precise definition, ‘the
limits of the Commission’s jurisdiction to regulate carriers under
[the Act] must necessarily depend upon the meaning and
interpretation of the [statutory] definition.””) (quoting Austasia
Intermodal Lines, Ltd. v. Fed. Mar. Comm’n, 580 F.2d 642, 644
(D.C. Cir. 1978)).

Avoiding an overly restrictive interpretation is also
important because no other forum has original jurisdiction over
Shipping Act claims. The Commission has “exclusive primary
jurisdiction” over alleged Shipping Act violations and complainants
cannot choose another forum. Gov’t of Guam v. Am. President
Lines, 28 F.3d at 142, 149 (D.C. Cir. 1994). Bringing a different
cause of action in state or federal court would still leave the
complainant without recourse for actual harm caused by a Shipping
Act violation. The Commission is also uniquely positioned to judge
whether its regulated entities’ practices are reasonable and fair. The
Commission’s experience monitoring ocean common carriers and
expertise in assessing supply chain logistics and chassis-related
issues is particularly relevant in this case. See generally A/S Ivarans
Rederi v. United States, 895 F.2d 1441, 1447 (D.C. Cir. 1990)
(“Congress specifically authorized the FMC” to review, approve,
and monitor “agreements among ocean common carriers. This
delegation of authority by Congress, coupled with the FMC’s
technical knowledge of the subject matter, cautions us to accord
great weight to the agency’s judgment.”).

2. Respondents’ Objections to Jurisdiction

Notwithstanding Respondents’ regulated status and the
Shipping Act violations alleged, Respondents raise multiple
objections to jurisdiction. Initially they assert that the Commission
cannot grant relief that conflicts with their contractual commitments
to the IEPs. Exceptions, 42. This argument is not persuasive. As the
ALJ properly determined, parties cannot evade Shipping Act
prohibitions by entering into a contract, then proclaiming that any
commitment embodied in that contract is exempt from Commission
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review. See 1.D., 23. As the Commission explained in the
Interpretative Rule on Demurrage and Detention:

Ocean carriers and [MTOs] do not have an
unbounded right to contract for whatever they want.
They are limited by the prohibitions of the Shipping
Act, one of which is section 41102(c). Although the
general trend in the industry has been deregulatory,
Congress retained section 41102(c) when it enacted
the Ocean Shipping Reform Act in 1998.

85 Fed. Reg. 29639, 29649 (May 18, 2020) (codified at 46 C.F.R. §
545.5),

Nor is the Commission’s jurisdiction constrained by the fact
that Shipping Act claims may become intertwined with breach of
contract issues. See generally Anchor Shipping Co., 2006 WL
200788, *12; New York Shipping Ass'n v. Fed. Mar. Comm’n, 854
F.2d 1338, 1364, 1371 (D.C. Cir. 1988). Respondents argue that
cases the ALJ relied on for this principle are factually
distinguishable. Exceptions, 40; see 1.D. 28. For example,
Respondents contend that Sealand Serv., Inc. & Gulf Puerto Rico
Lines v. Proposed Rules on Containers, 21 F.M.C. 1 (FMC 1978),
does not apply because it involved a collective bargaining
agreement. The factual distinctions that Respondents point to are
immaterial and do not undermine the general principle that regulated
entities cannot use contractual obligations to insulate their activities
from Commission review.

Respondents’ related argument that the Commission is
impermissibly asserting jurisdiction over their chassis usage
contracts with the IEPs is grounded on an erroneous premise. See
Exceptions, 40. The issue before the Commission is whether
Respondents’ chassis-provisioning practices are unreasonable or
unjust under Section 41102(c). Respondents’ contractual
obligations to the IEPs are a separate issue. The ALJ did not make
any determination about those obligations, and they are not before
the Commission. See generally California Stevedore Ballast Co. v
Stockton Port District (Stockton), 7 F.M.C. 75, 81 (1962)
(Commission action “condemning and preventing . . . unjust and
unreasonable practices” by stevedores engaged in vessel loading
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“does not constitute regulation of stevedoring”). Respondents’
argument that Complainant failed to show that it cannot bring a
cause of action in another forum is also meritless. See Exceptions,
44 n.24. Complainant is not required to prove there is no remedy in
another forum in order to establish Commission jurisdiction.

Respondents’ argument that the Commission lacks
jurisdiction over merchant haulage issues because they involve
overland transportation is likewise untenable. The Commission and
the courts have repeatedly recognized that the Shipping Act’s
authority does not end at the port’s boundary. See, e.g., Mitsui
O.S.K. Lines Ltd. v. Global Link Logistics, Inc., Docket No. 09-01,
2011 WL 7144008, at *5-8 (FMC Aug. 1, 2011) (recognizing
jurisdiction over “split routing” claim that involved transportation
inland). Whether the Shipping Act applies depends on the nature of
the activity, namely, its connection to ocean transportation service
for foreign shipments, not where the activity takes place or whether
it is carried out at the port or offsite. See id. "

Respondents recognized this established principle and used
it to their advantage to expansively define the geographic scope of
the CCM Agreement by including moving loaded or empty chassis
to or from inland destinations as authorized activities. Article 4 of
the CCM Agreement describes authorized activities as covering:

Inland Intermodal Terminals located within the
United States at which containers moving to or from
Marine Terminals in the foreign commerce of the
United States, or chassis which transport such
containers, are received, delivered, handled, stored,
repaired, maintained, loaded, unloaded, inspected, or
interchanged. Loaded or empty containers moved on
chassis via such Marine Terminals or Inland
Intermodal Terminals may be moving to or from any
origins, or to or from any destinations, within the
United States, its territories or possessions.

The Shipping Act defines various terms related to inland transportation
segments. See 46 U.S.C. § 40102(12) (“inland division”); § 40102(13)
(“inland portion”); § 40102(25) (“through rate”); and § 40102(26)
(“through transportation”). The Commission’s regulations also define
marine terminal facilities as including “inland locations.” 46 C.F.R. §
535.104(p).
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CCM Agreement, Art. 4 (emphasis added). By including these
activities, CCM signaled an intent to bring them under the Section
40307 exemption and insulate them from scrutiny by DOJ and FTC
for potential antitrust violations. Respondents cannot now claim that
activities they declared within the scope of their FMC-filed
agreement are at the same time outside the Commission’s
jurisdiction and cannot be policed or restricted under the Shipping
Act.

Respondents’  “inland segment” argument is also
contradicted by the Ocean Shipping Reform Act of 2022 (OSRA
2022) and Commission precedent, which make clear that chassis,
and by inference chassis pools, are integral components of the ocean
transportation system. In fact, OSRA 2022 directs the Commission
to partner with the Transportation Research Board of the National
Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine to study the
“best practices for on-terminal or near-terminal chassis pools”
servicing MTOs, motor carriers and other stakeholders [to] optimize
supply chain efficiency and effectiveness.” Public Law 117-146,
136 Stat. 1272 (June 16, 2022); https://www.fmc.gov/commission-
contracts-with-national-academies-for-  osra-mandated-chassis-
study/. Even before the passage of OSRA in June 2022, the
Commission examined chassis practices as an integral component
of the ocean supply chain. See, e.g., Fact Finding No. 29 Final
Report to the Commission, 29 (May 31, 2022); Fact Finding No. 28
Final Report to the Commission, 29 (Dec. 3, 2018); Memphis
Supply Chain Innovation Team, “A Single Gray Chassis Pool
Fosters Fluid Commerce and Improves Supply Chain Velocity.”?°
The Commission has also held that the Shipping Act applies to
regulated entities’ handling of chassis issues. See, e.g., Marine
Repair Services of Maryland, Inc. v. Ports America Chesapeake,
LLC, Docket No. 11-11, 2013 WL 9808672, at *21 (ALJ Jan. 10,
2013) (holding that maintenance and repair work on chassis and
refrigerated containers “have a direct and close connection to the
cargo operations of oceangoing vessels”), (admin. Final Mar. 20,
2013). The Commission’s regulations exempt equipment
interchange agreements among carriers from 46 U.S.C. § 40302
filing requirements which would not be necessary if those

2See https://fmc2.fimc.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Memphis
SupplyChainWhitepaper.pdf.
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agreements were already outside the Commission’s jurisdiction. See
46 C.F.R. §§ 535.304-535.305.

Finally, Respondents’ argument that the ALJ misapplied the
law by citing to Norfolk S. Railway Co. v. Kirby, 543 U.S. 14 (2004)
ignores the ALJ’s discussion entirely. Respondents argue that citing
Kirby shows that the ALJ misapplied the law because that case
involved a claim under the Carriage of Goods by Sea Act
(COGSA).%! See Exceptions, 29-31. The ALJ only cited Kirby to
make the point that whether maritime law applies depends on the
nature of the conduct at issue, not where it occurred, and that it does
not cease to apply the moment cargo leaves the port. See 1.D., 23-24
(quoting Kirby, 543 U.S. at 27). The ALJ cited Kirby as authority
for a universal principle that guides maritime law, not for any
principle unique to COGSA.

In sum, Complainant’s allegations that regulated entities
violated the Shipping Act while acting in their regulated capacity
places this case squarely within the Commission’s jurisdiction,
Respondents do not establish any basis for finding otherwise.

The ALJ’s ruling denying Respondents’ motion for
summary decision for lack of jurisdiction is affirmed.

D. IEPs’ Alleged Status as Indispensable Parties

The ALJ found that the three major IEPs (DCLI, Flexi-Van,
and TRAC) who supply chassis equipment to the Respondent ocean
common carriers are not necessary parties and that the case can be
adjudicated without joining them as parties. [.D., 26-29. Because the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure do not specifically
address joinder of non-parties, the ALJ applied the corresponding
federal rule, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 19. Respondents argue
that the ALJ erred in finding that the IEPs are not indispensable
because the carriers are contractually bound to them and the IEPs
have an interest in the outcome since the chassis-provisioning rules
they apply are being contested. Exceptions, 39-44. Notably, the
record does include the IEPs’ position on the points on which they

2'The Commission joined several other federal agencies in signing onto an
amicus brief filed by the U.S. Department of Justice in Kirby in support of
Norfolk Southern’s position. Br. for the United States as Amicus Curiae
Supporting Petitioner, 2004 WL 587237 (Mar. 24, 2004).
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claim the ALJ erred in finding exclusive provisioning practices
unreasonable. See IEP Amicus Br., 11-36.%

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 19 applies a three-part test
to determine whether litigation may proceed in the absence of a
particular party “who is subject to service of process and whose
joinder will not deprive the court of subject-matter jurisdiction.”
Stand Up for California! v. U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, 204 F. Supp.
3d 212, 251 (D.D.C. 2016) (citing Kickapoo Tribe of Indians of
Kickapoo Reservation in Kansas v. Babbitt, 43 F.3d 1491, 1494.
(D.C. Cir. 1995). The first step is determining whether the absent
party is required (or necessary) for a just adjudication under the
criteria identified in Rule 19(a). A party is necessary to the
proceeding if either of the following apply: (1) the court cannot grant
“complete relief” in their absence; or (2) they claim to have an
interest related to the case and disposing of the claims in their
absence impedes their ability to protect that interest or creates a
“substantial risk” of double, multiple or inconsistent obligations.
Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a); see Republic of the Philippines v. Pimentel,
553 U.S. 851, 862 (2008); De Csepel v. Republic of Hungary, 27
F.4th 736, 746-47 (D.D.C. 2022). The second step is determining
whether the non-party’s joinder is feasible. Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b);
Kickapoo Tribe, 43 F.3d at 1494. The third and final step considers
whether the case can proceed “in equity and good conscience” if the
absent (but necessary) party cannot be joined or whether the case
should be dismissed. Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b); see Pimentel, 553 U.S.
at 862.

Respondents fail to clear the test’s first hurdle because the
IEPs are not necessary parties under either prong of Rule 19(a). The
IEPs do not need to be parties for the agency to grant Complainant

2The IEPs argue that granting Complainant the relief it seeks will
undermine supply chain efficiency and directly interfere with their
contractual and business arrangements. [EP Amicus Br., 19-23. They
claim that Commission case law on exclusive arrangements does not apply
because the IEPs do not dominate the market. /d. at 2. The IEPs also
contend that the relief ordered by the ALJ will “directly upset the
competitive arrangements the marketplace has developed.” Id. As
discussed below, these arguments are not legally or factually supported
and do not countermand Complainant’s evidence that the challenged
practices fail the Commission’s reasonableness test for exclusive
arrangements.
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the relief it seeks by ordering Respondents to cease designating
exclusive chassis providers for merchant haulage, using merchant
haulage volume to obtain better carrier haulage rates, or
withdrawing from interoperable pools. See I.D., 27. Complainant 1s
not seeking any relief directly against the IEPs, either in the form of
reparations or a cease-and-desist order. See Compl. §40-41. As for
the second prong of the Rule 19(a) test, the IEPs claim and may be
able to demonstrate an indirect interest in whether Respondents may
continue designating exclusive providers for merchant haulage or
withdrawing from interoperable pools at will because those
activities may impact volume or demand for a particular IEP’s
chassis. But the IEPs do not face a “substantial risk” of being
ordered to satisfy multiple or inconsistent obligations. Respondents
will need to bring their practices into line with the Commission’s
cease-and-desist order and modify their dealings with shippers,
motor carriers, and chassis providers accordingly—but granting that
relief will not subject the IEPs to conflicting or inconsistent
demands.

Respondents’ arguments that Rule 19(a) requirements have
been met are not supported by the record and overstate the potential
mmpact of awarding relief on the IEPs’ business operations.
Respondents characterize the impact on the IEPs as “direct,
immediate, adverse and dramatic” but do not point to statistics,
expert opinion or clear evidence to substantiate that claim. See
Exceptions, 36-40. This argument also inaccurately suggests that
how IEPs allocate and bill for chassis usage is an immutable or
permanent fixture of IEP/ocean carrier contracts and that cannot be
shifted to a system that relies on default (preferred) chassis providers
for merchant haulage without making their business model
unsustainable. See id.
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Respondents acknowledge that certain ocean common
carriers allow exceptions from exclusive designations for merchant
haulage cargo.?®> While that is different than disallowing exclusive
designation practices entirely, the difference is a matter of degree.
The exception allowance shows that IEPs can function or adjust in
a climate where motor carriers or shippers can exercise a choice.
Under the current system, opt-outs may only occur infrequently and
on an ad hoc basis, but the fact that they can and presumably do
occur undercuts Respondents’ argument that exclusive designations
are necessary and allowing motor carriers a choice 1s not sustainable
and will endanger the chassis supply. As with any operational
change, switching away from exclusive designations may require a
period of adjustment as the IEPs assess changes in demand, but
Respondents do not point to any reason why that would not be a
temporary phenomenon, and a new equilibrium would eventually be
established as IEPs adjust to new chassis usage trends and make
corresponding adjustments to their chassis supplies and positioning.

This argument also ignores the fact that the heart of the case
1s the reasonableness of Respondents’ restrictions on motor carriers’
choices for merchant haulage. Resolving that question may affect
who IEPs can bill for chassis usage and how they allocate chassis
usage charges but does not place the indirect impact on their

BRespondents also contend that the ocean common carriers do not have
free rein in granting or denying motor carriers’ request to choose a chassis
provider for merchant haulage because the IEPs can veto the carriers’
decision, but again they do not point to data or statistics indicating either
how frequently motor carriers request an exception, how frequently the
ocean carrier grants or denies those requests, or how frequently IEPs veto
the ocean carrier’s decision to grant an exception. See Exceptions, 38-40.
In fact, these are some of the disputed factual questions that led the ALJ
to conclude that it is not possible to decide whether the exclusive
designation rules are unreasonable as applied (or in actual practice). See
ID.. 39.
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allocation and billing procedures at the center of this case or make
the IEPs a necessary party under Rule 19(a). That is simply not the
type or degree of impact on non-parties that Rule 19(a) requires to
show they are necessary to fairly and justly adjudicate the issues.
See 1.D., 27. This is not a situation in which the Respondents or the
IEPs will be confronted with multiple damage awards for the same
cause of action or inconsistent outcomes in other forums—the harm
that Rule 19(a) is meant to prevent. Accepting Respondents’
argument that indirect impact on the business practices of a non-
party forecloses Commission review of alleged Shipping Act
violations would allow regulated entities to claim Rule 19 requires
dismissal anytime the relief granted may impact their contractual
relationships with non-regulated entities. That would be an
untenable result and an overly broad interpretation of Rule 19.

Even if Respondents had cleared the first Rule 19 hurdle and
demonstrated that the IEPs qualify as necessary parties, they would
not clear the second. Joining the IEPs as additional respondents is
not feasible. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b). The sole claim alleged is
brought under Section 41102(c) which only regulates the conduct of
ocean common carriers, MTOs, and ocean transportation
intermediaries, so its requirements do not govern the IEPs’ business
practices. See 46 U.S.C. § 41102(c).

And finally, even if Respondents had cleared the first and
second Rule 19(a) hurdles, the fairness and equity considerations
applicable under Rule 19(b) weigh in favor of allowing the case to
proceed. Rule 19(b) provides a non-exhaustive list of factors to be
considered in deciding whether the case should go forward in the
non-party’s absence, consisting of:

(1) the extent to which a judgment rendered in the
person’s absence might prejudice that person or the
existing parties; (2) the extent to which any prejudice
could be lessened or avoided by: (A) protective
provisions in the judgment; (B) shaping the relief; or
(C) other measures; (3) whether a judgment rendered
in the person’s absence would be adequate; and (4)
whether the plaintiff would have an adequate remedy
if the action were dismissed for nonjoinder.

1d.
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Complainant’s inability to bring its Shipping Act claim in
any other forum weighs against dismissing this case. Bringing a
different cause of action in federal or state court would not give the
Complainant the same opportunity to seek a cease-and-desist order
because Respondents’ chassis-provisioning practices do not meet
Section 41102(c) reasonableness standards. A different claim may
also be litigated in a forum without the Commission’s unique
experience and expertise in ocean transportation logistics and
chassis provisioning.

Respondents’ and the IEPs’ similar interest in defending the
chassis provider rules and maintaining the status quo also weighs
against dismissal. The IEPs expressed their position on allowing the
rules to remain in place, and their interests are 